RECEIVED

Mar 05 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
G. D. Morgan, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2019-CP-23-01522
Appellate Case No. 2024-000931

~~Samantha Katchick Respondent,~~

v.

Marshall Alexander Chapman, DMD, Brooke I. Chapman, Chapman Dental, P.A., Douglas P. Schmieding, CPA, Jennings Cook & Co., CPAs, PA, and Earl A. Simmons, CPA, Defendants,

of which Marshall Alexander Chapman and Chapman Dental, P.A. are the Appellants.

APPELLANTS' INITIAL BRIEF

Bradford N. Martin, Esq. (SC Bar No. 3658)
Laura W. H. Teer, Esq. (SC Bar No. 16698)
Bradford Neal Martin & Associates, PA

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN FAILING TO GRANT APPELLANTS' MOTIONS FOR DIRECTED VERDICT AND JNOV AS TO FALSE IMPRISONMENT WHEN A FACIALLY VALID WARRANT HAD BEEN ISSUED?**
- II. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN FAILING TO GRANT APPELLANTS' MOTIONS FOR DIRECTED VERDICT AND JNOV AS TO FALSE IMPRISONMENT WHERE THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE OR REASONABLE INFERENCE TO BE DRAWN THAT APPELLANTS INDUCED THE SHERIFF'S OFFICE TO DETAIN OR ARREST RESPONDENT?**
- III. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN FAILING TO GRANT APPELLANTS' MOTIONS FOR DIRECTED VERDICT AND JNOV AS TO FALSE IMPRISONMENT WHERE THE LAW DOES NOT REQUIRE APPELLANTS TO INVESTIGATE BEFORE REPORTING TO THE SHERIFF'S OFFICE AND NO REASONABLE INFERENCE COULD BE DRAWN THAT APPELLANTS PROVIDED KNOWINGLY INCORRECT INFORMATION TO THE SHERIFF'S OFFICE OR ACTED IN BAD FAITH?**
- IV. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN FAILING TO GRANT APPELLANTS' MOTIONS FOR DIRECTED VERDICT AND JNOV AS TO MALICIOUS PROSECUTION WHERE APPELLANTS HAD PROBABLE CAUSE TO PRESENT INFORMATION TO THE SHERIFF'S OFFICE REGARDING BREACH OF TRUST, APPELLANTS WERE NOT AFFIRMATIVELY ACTIVE IN INSTIGATING OR PARTICIPATING IN THE PROSECUTION, AND THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE THEY ACTED WITH MALICE?**
- V. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN FAILING TO GRANT APPELLANTS' MOTIONS FOR DIRECTED VERDICT AND JNOV AS TO DEFAMATION WHERE RESPONDENT SELF-PUBLISHED THE DEFAMATORY INFORMATION?**
- VI. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN FAILING TO GRANT APPELLANTS' MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT AND JNOV AS TO DEFAMATION WHERE APPELLANTS' STATEMENTS WERE PRIVILEGED?**
- VII. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN SUBMITTING THE ISSUE OF PUNITIVE DAMAGES TO THE JURY WHEN RESPONDENT'S COUNSEL ASKED THE JURY TO "SEND A MESSAGE" IN THE FIRST**

STAGE OF THE LOWER AND THE VERDICT REFLECTED PUNITIVE DAMAGES WERE INCLUDED IN THE COMPENSATORY AWARD?

- IX. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANTS' MOTIONS FOR DIRECTED VERDICT AS TO PUNITIVE DAMAGES WHERE THERE WAS NO REASONABLE INFERENCE FOR THE JURY THAT APPELLANTS WERE WILLFUL, WANTON, OR RECKLESS?**
- X. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN ALLOWING A FORMER EMPLOYEE'S TESTIMONY IN THE PUNITIVE DAMAGES STAGE WHERE THE TESTIMONY WAS PREJUDICIAL, UNRELATED TO THE PUNITIVE FACTORS, AND CONCERNED ISSUES THAT WERE DISSIMILAR FROM RESPONDENT'S CLAIMS?**
-
- XII. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN FAILING TO GRANT A NEW TRIAL ABSOLUTE WHERE THE VERDICT WAS EXCESSIVE AND NOT SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE?**
- XIII. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN DECLINING TO REDUCE THE JURY'S AWARD OF ACTUAL AND PUNITIVE DAMAGES WHERE THE DAMAGES WERE EXCESSIVE IN LIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED?**
- XIV. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN FINDING THE JURY'S PUNITIVE DAMAGES AWARD COMPORTED WITH DUE PROCESS WHERE THE AWARD WAS NOT SUPPORTED BY THE *GAMBLE* AND *GORE* FACTORS?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a terminated employee's verdict in her favor over the circumstances surrounding missing money from her employer. The Respondent, Samantha Katchick, filed a Complaint on March 25, 2019 against her former employer, Marshall Alexander Chapman, DMD, his wife Brooke I. Chapman, and Chapman Dental, P.A.¹ The Complaint alleged causes of action arising from the police investigation of missing money under her supervision and her subsequent arrest, including false imprisonment, malicious prosecution, and defamation, among others. Appellants answered and counterclaimed alleging malicious prosecution.

The case proceeded to trial by jury on April 22, 2024 before circuit court Judge G. D. Morgan, Jr. The case was bifurcated for purposes of punitive damages. Previously, Appellants moved unsuccessfully for summary judgment. Appellants unsuccessfully moved for a directed verdict at the close of the Respondent's case-in-chief and at the close of the evidence. On April 24, 2024, the jury returned a verdict in favor of Respondent. The jury awarded actual damages of \$30,616 for false imprisonment, \$49,001 for malicious prosecution, and \$22,800 for defamation *per se*.

Appellants unsuccessfully objected to the case proceeding to the punitive damage stage. The jury then awarded punitive damages of \$30,590 for false imprisonment, \$25,000 for malicious prosecution, and \$15,000 for defamation *per se*. The total verdict against Appellants was \$277,417.00.

The Appellants thereafter filed post-trial motions including for judgment notwithstanding the verdict (JNOV), or alternatively a new trial absolute or new trial *nisi remittitur*. (R. --)

¹ Respondent filed an Amended Complaint on December 11, 2020 additionally naming Douglas P. Schmieding, CPA, Jennings Cook & Co., CPA's, PA, and Earl A. Simmons, CPA. Respondent settled with Schmieding, Jennings Cook, and Simmons prior to trial. Directed verdict was granted in favor of Brooke Chapman at trial.

Appellants also moved for a set-off on May 7, 2024 for prior settlements in the case. (R. ---) On May 8, 2024, Respondent filed her response in opposition.

The lower court issued a form order filed May 16, 2024 without a hearing, denying Appellants' motion for JNOV or alternatively for a new trial absolute or new trial *nisi remittitur*, but granting Appellants' motion for a \$40,000 setoff. Written judgment of the jury verdict was entered June 3, 2024.

Appellants filed a timely appeal to this Court on June 4, 2024.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The proper question for the jury was not whether Appellants were ultimately correct regarding Respondent taking money or even correct as to any of the information presented to Sheriff's Investigator Turner. Rather the proper question was (1) whether Dr. Chapman provided Sheriff's Investigator Turner with his good faith belief of the facts²; (2) whether he induced the police to unlawfully arrest the Respondent;³ and (3) whether the facts within his knowledge would lead a reasonable person to believe Respondent was responsible for the missing money.⁴ Appellants were not required to conduct a full investigation to verify the information they had gathered before going to the police.

The lower focused largely on the word "responsibility." Appellants used that term to describe Respondent's job duties, as she was responsible for the cash flow into the practice, whether through insurance providers or patient payment. She was also responsible for depositing funds into the bank. The proverbial buck stopped with her when it came to accounting for all funds

² *Huffman v. Sunshine Recycling, LLC*, 426 S.C. 262, 272, 826 S.E.2d 609, 615 (2018) citing *Brice v. Nkaru*, 220 F.3d 233, 238 (4th Cir. 2000).

³ *Sunshine Recycling, supra*, 426 S.C. at 273, 826 S.E.2d at 615, citing *Wingate v. Postal Tel. & Cable Co.*, 204 S.C. 520, 528, 30 S.E.2d 307, 311 (1944).

⁴ *Kinton v. Mobile Home Indus., Inc.*, 274 S.C. 179, 181, 262 S.E.2d 727, 728 (1980).

coming into the practice. When it was discovered that money was missing, she was terminated. This solved the problem as no money was missing after she left the practice.

Third parties over whom Appellants had no control would later state Respondent had “sole control” over the funds. There is no evidence Appellants ever stated this to anyone. At trial Respondent wrongfully argued Appellants told police Respondent was “responsible” for missing money from the practice using the term in a legal sense. There is also no evidence that Appellants conveyed this to the police. What follows are summaries of the important facts of this case.

Respondent Comes to Work for Chapman Dental

Dr. Alex Chapman started Chapman Dental (collectively the Appellants) in 2013. (Tr. p. 441, ll. 20-21) The practice used Eaglesoft software which is a computer program that provides a practice management system that includes both patient records and accounting. The system is used to file insurance claims, post payments, and generate statements for patients. (Tr. p. 410, ll. 2-11). Respondent was hired as the Office Manager in December of 2013. (Tr. p. 235, ll. 12-16).

Respondent's Responsibilities

By all reports, Dr. Chapman liked and had a good relationship with Respondent and he trusted her as the Office Manager (Tr. 444, ll. 12-18). Her responsibilities included determining how much patients needed to pay, collecting amounts owed, submitting insurance claims, recording and depositing funds in the bank (Tr. 442, l. 16-p. 443, l. 1). If another employee took a payment from a patient (no other employee made deposits), Respondent still was responsible for making sure it was deposited and accurately recorded (Tr. p. 443, l. 7-17).

Respondent was also the only employee responsible for taking deposits to the bank (Tr. p. 442, l. 16-p. 443, l. 1; p. 443, ll. 7-17). Deposits were made on a weekly basis (Tr. p. 280, ll. 3-7). Only on rare occasions might Dr. Chapman take a deposit to the bank (Tr. p. 120, ll. 22-23).

Respondent even admitted at trial that she was the employee responsible for handling the money for the dental practice (Tr. p. 279, ll. 5-7).

Respondent is Terminated

Brooke Chapman began working at the practice in January of 2017 (Tr. p. 408, ll. 2-3; 21-23). Her role included answering phone calls, scheduling patients, filing insurance claims, and collecting payments (Tr. p. 409, ll. 3-8). Shortly after arriving, Brooke ran a payment reconciliation in Eaglesoft for a bank deposit and was unable to get it to balance (Tr. p. 409, l. 19-p. 410, l. 1). This testimony undercuts Respondent's claim that despite having worked with Eaglesoft for more than three years, she did not have a method to reconcile deposits (Tr. p. 280, ll. 9-11).

The practice was experiencing a high number of unpaid insurance claims and patients that owed money. These were Respondent's responsibility (Tr. p. 444, l. 21-p. 445, l. 3). It was also discovered that Respondent had placed members of her family on an unapproved monthly payment plan of \$25 that would have taken six or seven years to pay off (Tr. 436, ll. 16-20). Despite liking and being close to Respondent, Dr. Chapman had no choice to terminate her in March of 2017 (R. -, Ex. 12). He explained Respondent was terminated due to negative discrepancies between the collections and the deposits. (Tr. 455, ll. 16-20). There was money missing and she was responsible for the money in the office.

The same morning she was terminated, Respondent called a fellow employee and told her she had been fired for allegedly stealing money. (Tr. p. 111, l. 21-p. 112, l. 1). This employee later asked Dr. Chapman the reason, and she testified that Dr. Chapman did not tell her she had stolen from the practice. She admitted he never mentioned Respondent stealing money after she asked him about Respondent's termination. (Tr. p. 117, ll. 2-16).

Appellants Gather Information Regarding the Financial Discrepancies

Following Respondent's termination, the negative discrepancies between the Eaglesoft reports and bank statements ceased (Tr. p. 412, ll. 5-7; p. 445, ll. 8-13). Appellants did not jump to conclusions but rather attempted to determine the cause. In October of 2017, Appellants asked Simmons, a Certified Public Accountant, to compare bank records with printouts from Eaglesoft (Tr. p. 368, ll. 7-9). In making the comparison, he found a negative discrepancy indicating money reported to Eaglesoft was not deposited into the bank account (R. – Ex. 6).

Appellants sought a second opinion from Schmieding, the CPA at Jennings Cook, who performed a calculation that showed \$3,505.19 was missing (Tr. p. 173, ll. 9-17; p. 174, ll. 16-23). Jennings Cook's letter dated November 14, 2017 clearly stated it was a calculation (R. - Ex. 9).

Respondent's own expert, O'Shea,⁵ agreed at trial that there was a negative discrepancy between what was entered and the amount deposited (Tr. p. 355, l. 20- p. 356, l. 4). He couldn't offer an opinion that no money had been taken (Tr. p. 356, ll. 13-17; p. 361, ll. 17-24). He further agreed that an employee taking cash from the practice could cause the discrepancy (Tr. p. 357, ll. 7-10; p. 359, ll. 10-12). O'Shea also agreed that Dr. Chapman legitimately believed that money was being taken from the practice based on the discrepancies (Tr. p. 360, ll. 8-14).

Dr. Chapman Goes to the Police for Assistance

The CPAs Appellants consulted were not able to explain the cause of the missing money so they went to the police for assistance (Tr. p. 446, ll. 14-18). Dr. Chapman took the information to the Greenville County Sheriff and spoke with White Collar Crime Investigator Turner (R. -, Ex. 12 & 13). Turner has a banking background and is familiar with financial transactions (Tr. p. 136,

⁵ O'Shea had a vested interest in Respondent winning the case, because he would not get paid unless she won. (Tr. p. 351, l. 14 – p. 352, l. 23).

ll. 3-8). Dr. Chapman explained that there was money missing from his practice and that he didn't understand what happened. He explained how his office worked and identified the employee (Respondent) who had responsibility for the money (Tr. p. 447, l. 22- p. 448, l. 12). Turner understood that Respondent was solely responsible for depositing money in the bank (Tr. p. 136, ll. 9-16). Dr. Chapman also informed Turner the discrepancies stopped after Respondent's termination (R. – Ex. 12).

A question arose at trial concerning how the information provided by Dr. Chapman was characterized. Investigator Turner testified that he “took it [the Jennings Cook work] to be” an “audit;” (Tr. p. 132, ll. 2-5) however, Chapman provided Turner with Jennings Cook's letter that clearly stated it was only a “calculation” (R. – Ex. 12). Turner mistakenly testified that he thought the financial chart in the packet was part of the letter from Jennings Cook (Tr. p. 132, ll. 9-17, Ex. 12). He admits that he made that assumption because the documents were in the packet together (*Id.*).

Dr. Chapman did not request, direct, or demand that Respondent be arrested or even brought in for questioning (Tr. p. 448, ll. 11-16). Dr. Chapman only conveyed to Investigator Turner he was “eager to have it looked at” [the discrepancy] (Tr. p. 132, l. 20 -. p. 133, l. 1). He never repeatedly contacted Turner nor pushed him for an arrest (Tr. p. 449, ll. 5-15; p. 450, ll. 8-16).

Investigator Turner Investigates the Case and Seeks a Warrant

Turner focused his investigation on who was responsible for taking the deposits to the bank (Tr. p. 148, l. 6-19). It did not matter that another employee may have occasionally received money from a patient unless there was evidence that person kept the money rather than entering it into the software (Tr. p. 148, 13-16). The fact the Eaglesoft system showed more money entered than

deposited indicated that was not the case. (Tr. p. 142, ll. 2-17). Investigator Turner was also aware that deposits were kept in an unlocked drawer in an open office, where they could potentially be accessed by others (Tr. p. 140, ll. 4-7; p. 159, ll. 7-9).

Turner contacted Respondent to find out her side of the story (Tr. p. 152, ll. 9-22). However, she was belligerent and difficult, and told him nothing: the conversation was not productive (Tr. p. 153, l. 5- p. 154, l. 2; Ex. 12). Respondent thus provided Turner with no information to assuage Appellants' concerns. Since white collar crime is different from more violent crimes, it was not uncommon for a suspect to cooperate and give their side of the story (Tr. p. 139, ll. 5-17).

Turner learned there had been other concerns regarding Respondent and proper handling of account balances with members of her family and that the issue had gone to Magistrate Court (Tr. p. 142, l. 22-p. 143, l. 1; Ex. 12). Turner (on his own) contacted Magistrate Ford regarding Respondent's family's non-payment under an unapproved payment plan. (Tr. p. 143, l. 25-p. 144, l. 12). He also contacted the head of the white collar unit of the Solicitor's Office regarding the missing funds and Respondent's potential culpability. (Tr. p. 144, ll. 15-22). The purpose of Turner's communication was to seek her advice regarding whether probable cause existed to issue a warrant against Respondent. (Tr. p. 145, l. 13-p. 146, l. 7).

Turner testified the Assistant Solicitor was comfortable with a warrant being signed if there was any evidence in the Magistrate case that Respondent had not properly collected fees for services rendered to her family (*Id.*) and she agreed that a warrant was appropriate (Tr. p. 155, ll. 24-25). This input played a large part in Turner's decision to pursue the warrant based on probable cause (Tr. p. 150, ll. 14-22). It was only after conducting his own investigation and speaking with the Solicitor's office that Turner sought a warrant for Respondent's arrest. This was his decision,

not Dr. Chapman's.

A Facially Valid Warrant is Issued

Investigator Turner, after having the Assistant Solicitor agree, sought a warrant for Respondent's arrest (R. - Ex. 2). He filled out an affidavit that stated the conclusion he reached in his investigation (R. - Ex. 2). The warrant was issued for Respondent's arrest on February 7, 2018 (R. - Ex. 2), following several months of investigation. The warrant was regular in format and was issued by a court with the authority to grant it (R.- Ex. 2). All of the procedures required for the proper issuance of the warrant had taken place (R. - Ex. 2).

Respondent was notified that a warrant had been issued for her arrest. Although she had initially refused to cooperate with the Sheriff's Department, Respondent voluntarily reported with her lawyer and was booked and released (Tr. p. 253, l. 17 – 254 l. 14). She was never put in a prison suit nor shackled. (*Id.*)

Probable Cause is Also Found by a Judge

Then, a Preliminary Hearing was held on March 26, 2018 (R. -Ex. 13). It was Investigator Turner who used the term sole "control" at the preliminary hearing and Appellants did not testify (R. -- Ex. 13). For a second time, probable cause was found and the judge bound the matter over for trial, thus confirming the facially valid warrant (R. - Ex. 13)

The Case Eventually Gets Dismissed

The Solicitor's office investigated the case and determined, for a third time, that there was probable cause to continue with the prosecution. Then, eight months later, the charges were dismissed (R. - Ex. 21). There is no evidence Appellants requested the Solicitors' office to continue with the matter, nor did they object to the dismissal (Tr. 452, ll. 20-22).

Allegations of Defamation

Respondent testified she began working for Greenville Orthodontics Group in April of 2017, shortly after her termination. (Tr. p. 246, ll. 14-16). When Respondent was informed that a warrant had been issued, she informed her new employer. (Tr. p. 102, ll. 14-16). Respondent herself made the allegations known to her employer. He testified that he was made aware of the arrest by his HR department. (Tr. p. 106, ll. 19-22).

Respondent filed suit on March 25, 2019, bringing causes of action for false imprisonment, malicious prosecution, and defamation, among others. Brian Smith (a former acquaintance of Dr. Chapman) testified at trial that after the lawsuit was filed, Dr. Chapman spoke with him about it. (Tr. p. 224, ll. 10-11; 13-16). Smith had no association or relationship with Respondent at the time (R. p. 227, ll. 18-21). Smith was vague regarding the timing of the conversation, giving an approximate year and time of year. He was also vague as to what was said or the context when he testified Dr. Chapman stated the Respondent stole from the practice (Tr. p. 199, ll. 11-16; p. 224, l. 10-p. 225, l. 1).

ARGUMENTS

I. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT APPELLANTS MOTIONS FOR DIRECTED VERDICT AND JNOV AS TO FALSE IMPRISONMENT

A. Standard of Review

“When reviewing a motion for directed verdict or JNOV, an appellate court must employ the same standard as the trial court.” *Byrd as Next Friend of Julia B. v. McLeod Physician Assocs. II*, 427 S.C. 407, 412–13, 831 S.E.2d 152, 154 (Ct. App. 2019) (quoting *Wright v. Craft*, 372 S.C.1, 18, 640 S.E.2d 486, 495 (Ct. App. 2006)). The court is required to view the evidence and

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