RECEIVED

Aug 26 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas, 15th Circuit

G.D. Morgan, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

COMMON PLEAS CASE NO.: 2019-CP-23-01522

Appellate Case No. 2024-000931

Samantha Katchick,

Respondent,

v.

Marshall Alexander Chapman, DMD, Brooke I. Chapman, Chapman Dental, P.A.,
Douglas P. Schmieding, CPA, Jennings Cook & Co., CPAs, PA, and Earl A. Simmons,
CPA, Defendants,

Of which Marshall Alexander Chapman, and
Chapman Dental, P.A. are the Appellants.

RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF

WESLEY D. FEW, LLC

/s/Wesley D. Few

Wesley D. Few, S.C. Bar No. 15565

Post Office Box 9398

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

Punitive Damages - Bifurcated

Appellants chose to bifurcate the trial, as was their right to do under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-32-520. Appellants now wish to quarrel with one witness that provided testimony on punitive damages issues, after having prevented any evidence or arguments on punitive damages for the first three days of the trial. This witness's testimony was subject to cross-examination by

Appellants' very capable and experienced trial counsel. Yet, the jury still awarded punitive damages thoughtfully on all three claims.

Punitive Damages - Directed Verdict

For the same reasons as set forth above in analysis of Respondent's actual damages awards, Appellants merely restate the same arguments that the evidence is insufficient or has been misunderstood by everyone but Appellants.

Punitive Damages – Former Employee

As set forth above, Althea Holland's testimony in the punitive damages portion of the trial, which was of Appellants' choosing, and was in no way prejudicial or unfair to Appellants. (R. pp. 865-868). She was employed by Appellants for years after Respondent was terminated. This is once again, Appellants just don't like the facts of this case, and they don't like that every single witness gave testimony that was unfavorable to their defenses and desired story lines.

Punitive Damages - Excessive

The jury's award of punitive damages complies with due process as set forth in *Mitchell* and does not warrant a reduction.

“The practice of awarding punitive damages originated in principles of common law ‘to deter the wrongdoer and others from committing like offenses in the future.’” *Mitchell, Jr. v. Fortis Ins. Co.*, 385 S.C. 570, 584, 686 S.E.2d 176, 183 (2009) (quoting *Laird v. Nationwide Ins. Co.*, 243 S.C. 388, 393, 134 S.E.2d 206, 210 (1964)). To determine if a punitive award is reasonable, a trial court must conduct a post-trial review that considers the following factors set forth by the Supreme Court in *B.M.W. of North America, Inc. v. Gore* and adopted in *Mitchell*: (1) the degree of reprehensibility of the defendant's misconduct; (2) the disparity between the actual and potential harm suffered by the plaintiff and the amount of the punitive damages

award; and (3) the difference between the punitive damages awarded by the jury and the civil penalties authorized or imposed in comparable cases. *Gore*, 517 U.S. 559, *Mitchell*, 385 S.C. at 587–88, 686 S.E.2d at 185–86. Additionally, the eight *Gamble* factors should also be considered. *See Mitchell*, 385 S.C. at 70; 686 S.E.2d at 176; *Gamble v. Stevenson*, 305 S.C.104, 406 S.E.2d 350 (1991). Here, after consideration of these factors, the Court should confirm that the jury’s award is reasonable.

Degree of reprehensibility

In making that threshold assessment, the “most important indicium of the reasonableness of a punitive damages award is the degree of reprehensibility of the defendant’s conduct.” *State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 538 U.S. 408, 419 (2003). As set forth in *Mitchell*, in determining the degree of Appellants’ reprehensibility, the following should be considered: (1) whether the harm caused was physical as opposed to economic; (2) whether the tortious conduct evinced an indifference to or a reckless disregard for the health or safety of others; (3) whether the target of the conduct had financial vulnerability; (4) whether the conduct involved repeated actions or was an isolated incident; and (5) whether the harm was the result of intentional malice, trickery, or deceit, rather than mere accident. *Mitchell*, 385 S.C. at 587, 686 S.E.2d at 185 (citing *State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Campbell*, 538 U.S. 408 (2003)).

Considering these factors, Appellants’ course of conduct exhibited a high degree of reprehensibility. It is not even a close question, and the jury found that as well. There is ample evidence that Appellants’ misconduct was reprehensible and evidenced a conscious indifference and reckless disregard for the rights and dignity of Respondent, and anyone else who might be treated similarly in the future. Appellants knowingly pursued this course of conduct, enticing and

tricking third-parties such as Doug Schmieding, CPA, with the knowledge and the plan to have Respondent arrested and hopefully get her fired from her new job, and then when the charges were dismissed, acting like it was all just fun and games, sending the text that read, “Yo Sam, let's catch up over a beer or 2. I'll buy :)” (R. p. 1029). Appellants deceptively masqueraded Doug Schmieding’s one-page letter as a two-page letter, adding in the name of Respondent and the incriminating “solely” statement repeated throughout Appellants documents. (R. pp. 1004-1005). This evidence of trickery and deceit satisfies the fifth factor.

The additional Gamble factors also further support that the punitive damages award is reasonable. The eight Gamble considerations include: (1) the defendant’s degree of culpability; (2) the duration of the conduct; (3) the defendant’s awareness or concealment; (4) the existence of similar past conduct; (5) the likelihood the award will deter the defendant or others from like conduct; (6) whether the award is reasonably related to the harm likely to result from such conduct; (7) the defendant’s ability to pay; and (8) any other factors deemed appropriate. Gamble, 305 S.C. at 111-12, 406 S.E.2d at 354.

As to culpability, the evidence established that Appellants sought to have Respondent’s liberty taken from her and to cost her limited financial resources to defend the charges and get treatment for the inevitable emotional distress and humiliation to have to tell her children she had been arrested. As to the duration and concealment of the misconduct and existence of similar past conduct, the evidence establishes that Appellants’ plan to accuse and destroy Respondent went on for months, and the identity of Uncle Earl Simmons, CPA, was not disclosed even after the case was over a year old and written discovery responses had been exchanged by the parties. As to providing a deterrent effect, imagine the lack of a deterrent effect if Appellants had done this and not been called to answer for their actions by Respondent’s successful lawsuit.

Likewise, because the punitive awards intend to deter such conduct, it is most certainly reasonably related to that significant form of harm so as to satisfy the sixth Gamble factor. As to the remaining Gamble factor, the defendants' ability to pay, the jury was provided with Appellants' net worth statement as Plaintiff's Trial Exhibit 30, showing a net worth of over \$2,400,000.00. (R. p. 1063). The evidence in this case supports nearly every Gamble factor and factors in the reprehensibility test of Mitchell / Gore. There is strong evidence of Appellants' reprehensibility, culpability, and reckless indifference, there certainly is an essential need for deterrence.

ii. Ratio

As to the ratio of punitive damages to actual damages, this factor also merits a finding of reasonableness. In determining the reasonableness of the ratio, the Court may consider: the likelihood that the award will deter the defendant from like conduct; whether the award is reasonably related to the harm likely to result from such conduct; and the defendant's ability to pay. Mitchell at 588, 686 S.E.2d at 185. Further in Garrison v. Target Corporation 435 S.C. 566, 869 S.E.2d 797, 807-08 (2022), the South Carolina Supreme Court held that in conducting its ratio calculation constitutionality review, the trial court should consider any potential harm, including the harm to others. "[I]t is appropriate to consider the magnitude of the potential harm that the defendant's conduct would have caused to its intended victim if the wrongful plan had succeeded, as well as the possible harm to other victims that might have resulted if similar future behavior were not deterred." 435 S.C. 566, 869 S.E.2d 797, 807-08 (2022) (citing TXO Prod. Corp. v. Alliance Resources Corp., 509 U.S. 443, 460 (1993)).

The punitive damages award being less than the actual damages award is per se reasonable. Appellants argue that the reverse ratio in this case somehow suggests excessiveness

or lack of reasonableness but there is nothing to suggest that the award of punitive damages is anything but reasonable in light of the other *Mitchell* factors. Given that the punitive damages award is less than the award of actual damages supports the reasonableness of the award.

iii. Comparable cases

To further justify the reasonableness of the jury's punitive damages award, the guideposts urge consideration of the award in this case to comparable cases. As an initial matter, there are no directly comparable cases or civil penalties in which a defendant has blatantly violated the privacy rights of countless others for decades. Considering the *Mitchell* guideposts and *Gamble* factors, the Court should affirm the punitive damages awards as reasonable and in accordance with the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.

New Trial Absolute and (VI) Nisi Remittitur

- a. Because the verdicts are not excessive and there are no compelling reasons for a new trial nisi remittitur, the Court should also deny Appellants' alternative request to order a new trial nisi remittitur.**

If the Court declines to grant a new trial absolute, Appellants alternatively ask the Court to grant a new trial nisi remittitur if the Court finds the verdicts merely excessive. In determining whether any verdict is inadequate or excessive, however, the court must give "substantial deference" to the jury's determination of damages. *Rush v. Blanchard*, 310 S.C. 375, 379, 426 S.E.2d 802, 805 (1993) (citing *Brabham v. S. Asphalt Haulers, Inc.*, 223 S.C. 421, 430, 76 S.E.2d 301, 306 (1953)). The South Carolina Supreme Court recently addressed a new trial nisi and recognized that:

[t]he necessity of giving this deference arises from article I, section 14 of the South Carolina Constitution, which provides, "The right of trial by jury shall be preserved inviolate." S.C. Const. art. I, § 14. Thus, every party to a civil jury trial "is entitled to the constitutional privilege of the fair judgment of a jury" and a

court must “not interfere with the verdict of a jury simply because it is greater [or less] than its own estimate.” *Brabham* 223 S.C. at 430, 76 S.E.2d at 306.

Jolly v. Fisher Controls Int'l, LLC, 905 S.E.2d 380, 387, 443 S.C. 511, 524 (2024). The Court then held that if a trial court determines that the jury’s verdict is excessive, it must explain the reasons it made that determination, and those reasons must be compelling reasons for invading the jury’s province. *Jolly*, 905 S.E.2d 380, 386. Appellants do not set out any compelling reasons for the court to grant a new trial nisi remittitur for good reason - there are none. To the extent that Appellants are relying on the same arguments made in support of their motion for a new trial absolute, Respondent incorporates her opposition as set out above. In sum, there are no compelling reasons to invade the jury’s province in this case. Accordingly, the Court should deny Appellants’ request for New trial Nisi Remittitur.

Special Damages exceed requested amount

Rule 49, SCRCF, requires any party desiring to challenge the jury’s verdict(s) to raise those objections before the jury is excused. In *Camden v. Hilton*, 360 S.C. 164, 171-172, 600 S.E.2d 88, 91-92 (Ct. App. 2004), this Court stated:

In finding the trial court erred in granting the medical provider's motion for JNOV, the supreme court noted, "this court has repeatedly held that a party should not be permitted to sit idly by while a verdict erroneous in form is being returned and witness its receipt without objection and later, after the jury has been discharged, claim advantage of the error, thus invited by acquiescence." *Id.* at 554, 560 S.E.2d at 896 (citations omitted).

We find the trial court erred in entertaining Respondent's post-trial motion, as the motion was not presented to the court prior to the jury being discharged.

Id. (underline emphasis added)

In another case addressing issue with a special verdict form, this Court and the S.C. Supreme Court made it abundantly clear that any issues to be raised with regard to a special verdict form must be raised before the jury is discharged. In *Stevens v. Allen*, 342 S.C. 47, 50, 536 S.E.2d 663, 664 (2000), the Supreme Court affirmed this Court’s reversal of the trial court’s

refusal to resubmit the issue of an inconsistent verdict to the jury, stating, “we now hold that, when the issue is raised, a trial judge should resubmit a [inconsistent] verdict ... to the jury with instructions ...” In *Stevens*, the Supreme Court also stated, “[t]his Court subsequently reversed *Johnson* to the extent it imposed a duty on the trial judge to reject such a verdict in the absence of an objection by either party.” *Id.* at 664. Appellants lost their opportunity to challenge the verdict when they failed to raise the objection before the jury was dismissed, and there was no “duty on the trial judge” to make Appellants’ objections for them.

In closing arguments on the punitive phase, Appellants’ counsel, already knowing the actual damages verdict was over \$100,000.00, all but begged for mercy. (R. pp. 862-865; R. pp. 908-910). In fact, Respondent’s counsel did not even use the opportunity to make a reply argument in the punitive damages phase. (R. p. 910, lines 7-8). As noted in *Camden v. Hilton* above, a “party should not be permitted to sit idly by while a verdict erroneous in form is being returned and witness its receipt without objection and later, after the jury has been discharged, claim advantage of the error, thus invited by acquiescence. *Id.*

Excessive Damages Awards

For each of the three claims in which Respondent prevailed, namely False Imprisonment, Malicious Prosecution and Defamation, Appellants argue the jury’s awards were excessive. Appellants admittedly rely on their same prior arguments for these positions. Namely, for False Imprisonment, the “facially valid warrant” argument again, even stating in this attempt to reduce the verdict, arguing “there is no cause of action for false imprisonment under these circumstances.” App. I.B. at 46. This is not an argument that the verdict is excessive, but rather a second try to argue the entire claim is improper.

With respect to Malicious Prosecution, Appellants try again to argue there was “probable

cause” for the arrest of Respondent. The facts are in and the jury rejected that argument every time. Appellants state, “there is no evidence Appellants objected to the dismissal of the charges,” but they did double down on Mike O’Shea’s first report dated May 25, 2018, and they never even told Doug Schmieding they made his letter a two-pager and added Respondents’ name to it. The evidence was overwhelming that Appellants got exactly what they wanted when Respondent was arrested and punished by her new employer. Again, these are not arguments for excessiveness, but the same old arguments to reject the claim in its entirety.

For Defamation, Appellants go back to the same self-publication argument and privilege arguments. These issues were presented to the jury and the jury rejected them both and correctly found there was no applicable privilege. Appellants’ complaints about the special verdict form are not preserved as set forth herein under Rule 49.

CONCLUSION(S)

Because the circuit court properly allowed Respondent’s claim for False Imprisonment to go to the jury and there is no basis to apply the “facially valid warrant exception, the damages award was supported by the evidence and within the jury’s province. Because the circuit court properly allowed Respondent’s claim for Malicious Prosecution to go to the jury, the award was supported by the evidence and within the jury’s province. Because the circuit court properly allowed Respondent’s Defamation claim to go to the jury, and because no qualified privilege applied to the statements of Jim Nasim or Brian Smith, the award was supported by the evidence and within the jury’s province.

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